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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. 

Plaintiff, State of Washington, respondent below, asks this Court to 

accept review of the Court of Appeals' decisions terminating review that 

are designated in part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. 

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II 

opinion, published in part, and the order amending the opinion and 

denying reconsideration in this case, State of Washington v. Kisha 

Lashawn Fisher and Corey Trosclair, Court of Appeals No. 43870-4-11. 

The opinion was filed on December 2, 2014. The order denying 

reconsideration was filed on March 17, 2015. See Appendices A and B. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

1. Does the published portion of the decision below 
conflict with decisions of the United States Supreme Court 
and of Division One of the Court of Appeals in State v. 
Medina1

, and of Division Two in State v. Larr/, thereby 
creating a conflict concerning admission of statements of a 
non-testifying co-defendant in a joint trial that were 
redacted to eliminate incriminating references to the other 
defendant? 

1 112 Wn. App. 40,48 P.3d 1005 (2002) 
2 108 Wn. App. 894, 34 P .3d 241 (200 I) 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Kisha Lashawn Fisher and Corey Trosclair (the "defendants"), 

appellants below, were convicted of first degree murder following a joint 

trial. CPF 218-231. CPT 409-431. 3 

The shooting that led to the defendants' convictions took place on 

January 16, 2011, at approximately 8:30 in the evening. Lenard Masten 

was shot in the parking lot of his Lakewood apartment shortly after 

receiving a phone call and leaving his apartment. RP 519-20. RP 479, 

486. RP 510. Immediately after the shooting, witnesses, including Mr. 

Masten's girlfriend, her sisters and mother, saw an African American male 

standing over Mr. Masten and appearing to go through his pockets. RP 

480-81. RP 510. RP 519-20. 

A second African American male with a handgun came down the 

stairs from the direction of Mr. Masten's apartment. RP 480-81. The 

gunman and the individual who had been going through Mr. Masten's 

pockets fled in an SUV with its lights off. RP 511. Mr. Masten later died 

at the hospital. RP 1008, 1024, 1028-30. Defendant Trosclair was 

3 Fisher and Trosclair were tried together and their cases were consolidated on direct 
appeal. Both defendants filed designations of clerk's papers separately and thus are not 
sequentially numbered. The State will cite to clerk's papers for Fisher as "CPF" and for 
Trosclair as "CPT." The entirety of the trial transcript is sequentially numbered; 
therefore citations to the verbatim report of proceedings for the trial will be to "RP." 
Citations to any proceedings which were not part of the sequentially-numbered trial 
transcript will be to "RP" followed by the date of the hearing. 

I 
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identified in a photo montage prior to trial, and during the trial, by a 

neighbor, as the man standing near Mr. Masten immediately after the 

shooting. RP 1045-48. 

The police investigation included call detail analysis of Mr. 

Masten's phone which led to phone evidence linking defendant Trosclair 

to Mr. Masten. RP 670, 684-87. RP 790-91, 807, 829-30. In particular a 

three way phone call had been placed between ( 1) a land line at co-

defendant Mario Steele's4 residence, (2) defendant Trosclair's cell phone, 

and (3) Mr. Masten's phone minutes before the shooting. At the time of 

that call the police would establish through cell tower records that 

defendant Trosclair's cell phone was located near Mr. Masten's apartment. 

RP 829-30, 887. 

The investigation led eventually to defendants Trosclair and Fisher 

and Mario Steele. Trosclair and Fisher were interviewed separately. RP 

795. RP 833. During Trosclair's interview, he admitted that Fisher is his 

sister and that she had informed him the police had his telephone number. 

RP 834, 836. When confronted about the three-way call just before the 

murder to Mr. Masten, and about cell tower evidence that placed him at 

Masten's apartment, Trosclair denied having been in Lakewood at all but 

did state that no one else had access to his phone. RP 837-46, 54. When 

4 Defendant Mario Marshawn Steele pled guilty to first degree manslaughter and first 
degree robbery and was sentenced to 125 months in prison on August 3 I, 2012. 
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the detectives asked Trosclair if a lie detector test would clear him, he 

responded, "[n]o, it won't." RP 855. 

Defendant Fisher was interviewed twice. In her first interview she 

admitted having called Mr. Masten to order drugs but denied knowing 

anything about his death. RP 795-99. She also denied that she recognized 

the cell phone number from the three-way call. RP 823-24. That number 

was identified through phone records as defendant Trosclair's, phone 

number. In the second interview she admitted having been told of a plan 

to rob Mr. Masten and that she had supplied Mr. Masten's contact phone 

number. RP 1639-48. As will be more fully discussed below, the second 

interview was redacted to eliminate any incriminating references to the 

other people involved in the plot. 

The court below upheld the defendants' convictions. Appendices 

A and B. In subsection B, the published portion of the opinion, the court 

held that denial of defendant Trosclair's severance motion, and the 

admission of Defendant Fisher's redacted statement in the joint trial was a 

violation of the Sixth Amendment confrontation clause but was harmless 

error. Appendix B, Slip Opinion pp. 9-10. 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 
CONFLICTS WITH ESTABLISHED 
PRECEDENT FROM THE UNITED STATES 
SUPREME COURT AND DIVISIONS ONE AND 
TWO OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IN ITS 
APPLICATION OF THE REQUIREMENT THAT 
A NON-TESTIFYING CODEFENDANT'S 
STATEMENT BE REDACTED TO ELIMINATE 
INCRIMINATING REFERENCES TO THE 
OTHER DEFENDANT. 

In the landmark Bruton case, the United States Supreme Court 

held that a defendant would be deprived of his or her confrontation rights 

under the Sixth Amendment if, during a joint trial, he or she is 

incriminated by the admission of a pretrial statement of a non-testifying 

codefendant. Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 136-37, 88 S. Ct. 

1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 4 76 (1968). Such a confrontation violation may not be 

avoided by giving a limiting instruction directing the jury to consider the 

statement only against the defendant who made it. !d. at 136-37. 

Subsequent to Bruton, the Supreme Court refined its confrontation 

jurisprudence in this area by specifying that the offending co-defendant's 

statement must be incriminating on its face. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 

U.S. 200, 208, 107 S. Ct. 1702, 95 L. Ed. 2d 176 (1987). The court in 

Richardson stated: 

- 5 -Fisher & Trosclair, Motion for Discretionary Review, Final.~ocx 



There is an important distinction between this case and 
Bruton, which causes it to fall outside the narrow exception 
we have created. In Bruton, the codefendant's confession 
"expressly implicat[ ed]" the defendant as his accomplice. 
Thus, at the time that confession was introduced there was 
not the slightest doubt that it would prove "powerfully 
incriminating." By contrast, in this case the confession was 
not incriminating on its face, and became so only when 
linked with evidence introduced later at trial (the 
defendant's own testimony)." 

!d. at 208 (internal citations omitted). 

The court in Richardson approved redaction of a co-defendant's 

statement so that the statement removed any reference to the co-defendant. 

!d. at 211. Subsequent to Richardson, the court further refined the 

redaction rule by making it clear that the redactions may not be obvious to 

the jury, and that references to the other defendants by nondescript 

pronouns was permissible. Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 118 S. Ct. 

1151, 140 L. Ed. 2d 294 (1998). The court in Gray approved substitution 

of pronouns as follows: 

Consider as an example a portion of the confession before 
us: The witness who read the confession told the jury that 
the confession (among other things) said, 

"Question: Who was in the group that beat Stacey? 
"Answer: Me, deleted, deleted, and a few other guys." 

App. 11. 
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Why could the witness not, instead, have said: 

"Question: Who was in the group that beat Stacey? 

"Answer: Me and a few other guys." 

Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. at 196. 

Where a co-defendant's statement is susceptible of redaction to 

omit incriminating references to the other defendant or defendants, the 

statement may be admitted under Bruton, Richardson, and Gray. 

Washington's court rules reflect this. CrR 4.4(c)(l)(ii) provides that a 

severance motion may be denied and joinder may be maintained where 

"deletion of all references to the moving defendant will eliminate any 

prejudice to him from the admission of the statement." 

The courts of appeal have applied the redaction rule from Gray 

consistently to approve redaction such as was presented by the state in this 

case. InState v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. 40,48 P.3d 1005 (2002), 

Division One affirmed a robbery and kidnapping conviction against a 

challenge to the admission of a redacted version of a co-defendant's 

statement. After quoting Richardson and Gray, the court observed: 

"Hunt's redacted statement refers to 'other guys,' 'the guy,' 'one guy,' and 

'they.' The statement was altered in such a way that it became so 

ambiguous that it is impossible to track the activities of any particular 

guy." State v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. at 51. 
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Divison Two likewise applied the redaction rule consistent with 

Gray. State v. Larry, 108 Wn. App. 894,902,34 P.3d 241 (2001). In 

Larry two defendants were prosecuted for kidnapping and robbery. The 

statements of one of the two defendants were admitted after they had been 

redacted using nondescript pronouns. The Larry court stated that a 

confession from a co-defendant does not violate the confrontation clause 

and falls outside Bruton's prohibition where it is redacted to omit all 

reference to the codefendant "because the statement was not 'incriminating 

on its face' and became incriminating "only when linked with evidence 

introduced later at trial (the defendant's own testimony)." State v. Larry, 

108 Wn. App. at 902. 

In this case the redactions proposed by the prosecution and adopted 

by the trial court were intended to comply with Larry and Medina. They 

used the same non-descript pronoun. Defendant Trosclair's name was 

changed to "first guy." 14 RP 1609-4 7. That change was not only the 

same change that was used in Larry and Medina, it is the change 

suggested by the Supreme Court in its Gray opinion. Gray v. Maryland, 

523 U.S. at 196. Defendant Trosclair was not referred to in the transcript 

by his relationship to Defendant Fisher. Instead, he was referred to as 

"first guy," an individual from Kent who doesn't come over that often, 

- 8 -Fisher & Trosclair, Motion for Discretionary Review, Final.dfcx 
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who is not her cousin, and who did not know the victim "Solo." 14 RP 

1612, 1623-26, and 1647. 

Subsequent to Medina, but consistent with its reasoning, Division 

One declined to uphold the admission of a redacted statement where cross 

incrimination was unavoidable. State v. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. 14 7, 120 

P.3d 120 (2005). In Vincent, the statement at issue was a statement from 

one of two defendants to a jail house informant. The defendant who made 

the statement was obviously referring to his co-defendant and it is not 

surprising that no amount of redaction could cure the confrontation 

violation. /d. at 154-55. 

The Court of Appeals in this case discussed Vincent and a pre­

Richardson case as supporting its analysis of a confrontation violation. 

State v. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App.464, 610 P .2d 3 80 ( 1980). Because Vannoy 

was decided before Richardson and Gray, it is not based on current 

standards of proper redaction. The court in Vannoy did not have the 

benefit of Richardson's holding that other evidence, independent of the 

co-defendant statement, may incriminate the other co-defendant without 

implicating the confrontation clause. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. at 

208. In Vannoy police testimony provided independent evidence linking 

the defendants such that under Richardson and Gray there would have 

been no confrontation violation. 
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In this case the excerpt of Fisher's statement discussed by the court 

below was not about Trosclair. 14 RP 615. The police officer was 

questioning Fisher about a suspect from California, not Trosclair: 

Q. And if [the suspect from California] was your 
cousin, would you tell me his name if he was your real 
cousin? 

A. Oh, yeah, at this point, yeah. 

Q. What? 

A. He's not. He's not my cousin. He is no 
relationship to me. 

Q. No relation to the first guy that you know of? 

A. No relation to my family. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I would know who he was then. 

14 RP 1615. 

* * * 

Q. Right now when the first guy was up here- I'm 
going to tell you what I know, okay, when the first guy was 
up here with his cousin. 

A. I ain't his cousin. 

Q. I'm just saying you called him- you said cousin. 

A. Yeah. 
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Q. Hey cousin, that's why I am just referring to cousin. 
They were looking for someone to do licks, somebody who 
had money, correct? 

A. Well, I don't know if that was their intentions. 
They came over because he wanted to get some powder and 
some black. 

14 RP 1623. 

The evidence that connected Fisher and Trosclair as brother and 

sister did not come from Fisher's statement, it came from Defendant 

Trosclair's own statement. RP 834, 836. He told the detectives that Fisher 

was his sister in his own interview. !d. Since Trosclair identified Fisher 

as his sister, Fisher's statement that referred to "first guy" could only have 

been thought by the jury to have referred to someone besides Trosclair. 

For this reason there was no confrontation violation as a result of the 

approved redaction. 

In its original opinion the court below supported its confrontation 

analysis with incorrect facts. It held that a particular reference to 

Trosclair's first name was an egregious confrontation violation. 

Appendices A and B, Slip Opinion p. 9. RP 1035. Subsequently in its 

ruling on the state's motion for reconsideration, the court modified its 

opinion because that reference was not a failure of the prosecution, 

"egregiously," to fully redact the statement. Instead, Trosclair's first name 

was re-inserted in the statement, at the request of the defendants after the 
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state had originally redacted it. RP 1631-34. The court subsequently 

retracted that paragraph of its opinion but inexplicably declined to correct 

its confrontation analysis despite having been pointed to the analysis in the 

decisions in Richardson, Gray, Medina, and Larry. Appendix B, Order 

Amending Opinion and Denying Motion to Reconsider, p. 1. 

The decision below conflicts with prior decisions of the United 

States Supreme Court and the courts of appeals and does so in the 

published portion of the opinion. Thus it creates a conflict with 

established precedent and provides a basis for review under RAP 

13.4(b)(l), (2) and (3). 

The redactions in this case comprehensively removed any 

incriminating reference to Fisher's co-defendant. The court below should 

have held that there was no confrontation clause error. Instead the court 

held that there was error but that it was harmless. The state has no quarrel 

with the court's view that the other evidence in the case was 

"overwhelming," nor with the view that the supposedly problematic 

portion of Fisher's interview was "insignificant." Appendix B, Slip 

Opinion p. 9. Nevertheless, because the opinion below can be cited in 

support of an incorrect interpretation of established confrontation clause 

precedent, this court should not allow the published portion of the decision 

to stand. 
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F. CONCLUSION. 

For the foregoing reasons, this court should grant review to correct 

the incorrect interpretation of the confrontation clause in the published 

portion of the opinion ofthe court below. 

DATED: April 15, 2015. 

MARK LINDQUIST 
Pierce County 
Prosecutin ttorney 

{£ 
JA 
Dep ty Prosecuting Attorney 
WSB # 17298 

Certificate of Service: \. ~ 
The undersigned certifies that on this day she delivered b;; ~or 
ABC-LMI delivery to the attorney of record for the appellant and appellant 
c/o his attorney true and correct copies of the document to which this certificate 
is attached. This statement is certified to be true and correct under penalty of 
perJury of the laws of the State ofWa~hington. Signed at Tacoma, Washmgton, 

{\~,~~~~ 
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APPENDIX "A" 

Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration 



FILED 
COURT OF,APPEALS 
· DIVIS ON II 

2015 HAR 171 AM 8: ~0 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

· STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

V. 

KISHA LASHA WN FISHER, 

A ellant. 

STATE OF WASIITNGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

COREY TROSCLAIR, 

A ellant. 

No. 43870-4-ll 

ORDER AMENDING OPINION 
AND DENYING MOTION TO 

RECONSIDER 

. (Consolidated with No. 43990-5-II) 

Respondent has filed a motion asking the court to reconsider its part published opinion.] 

filed on December 2, 2014. Having considered the motion and supporting materials, the court now! 

orders as follows: 

(1) The first full paragraph on page 9 shall be deleted. 

I. 



Consol. Nos. 43870-4-II I 43990-5-II 

(2) In all other respects the motion for reconsideration is denied. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this ~ay of~M.:..:.krtf!A1...:........::;,___,;;,___,;..;.._ ____ ~, 2015. 

~-~.10¥"1 J c . {).. . ... . Q-. :~c.J. -
We concur: 

· ·~r ... ~ --~-- .. ~~ 
--~- - ------

RSWICK,J. 

~;r: 
MELNICK, J. "J '-------

2 



. f:.fLEO 
COURT OF APPEALS 

. DIV/SfON ii 

281~ DEC ~2 . AH .'8: .SS 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

·ay_ o£'~.· .. 

IN TilE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 43870-4-II 

Respondent, 

v. 

KISHA LASHA WN FISHER, PART PUBLISHED OPINION 

A ellant. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, (Consolidated with No. 43990-5-II) 

Respondent, 

v. 

COREY TROSCLAIR, 

A ellant. 

JOHANSON, C.J. - A jury found Kisha Fisher and Corey Trosclair guilty of first degree 

murder. 1 Trosclair and Fisher appeal their convictions. In the published portion of the opinion, 

we hold that Trosclair's rights under the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment were I 

1 RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c). 
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violated because the redactions in a nontestifying codefendant's statements were insufficient under 

current confrontation clause jurisprudence. But we hold further that the error was harmless beyond • 

a reasonable doubt. Therefore, although the trial court should have severed Trosclair's case fr~m I 
Fisher's, the court's refusal to do so does not require reversal. In the unpublish.ed portion ofthe · 

· opinion, we address Trosclair's and Fisher's remaining claims and affirm their convictions. 

FACTS 

I. THE SHOOTING INVESTIGATION 

In January 2011, Lenard Masten received a fatal gunshot wound at an apartment complex I 

in Lakewood. Several apartment residents heard the gunshot. Michelle Davis,2 Masten's 

' . 
girlfriend, said that Masten had received a telephone call regarding a drug sale. After he left, • · 

Michelle3 heard a loud no~se and saw one man standing over Masten while another man ran up the I 

stairs towards Masten's apartment. Nadise Davis described a similar scene. Nadise heard the, 

gunshot, looked out the window, and saw a man standing over Masten cursing loudly and digging : 

through Masten's pockets. Nadise also saw a second man with a gun coming down a stairwell. I 

2 Michelle Davis died in an unrelated incident before trial, but made statements to police that the ' 
trial court appears to have admitted as excited utterances. 

3 Michelle shares a surname with several family members who testified in this case. We identify ~· 
members ofthe Davis family by their first names for clarity, intending no disrespect. 

2 
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Masten's cell phone records revealed pertinent information. The records showed numerous' 
I 

• I 

calls between Mario Steele and Masten on the day Masten was killed, including a three-way phone 

call between Steele, Masten, and Trosclair three minutes before Masten was shot. Cell phone 

records also placed Trosclair in the same Lakewood neighborhood as Steele and Masten during 

the three-way call. 

Investigator Jeff Martin interviewed Fisher, Steele's girlfriend and Trosclair's sister, who 

admitted that she called Masten to set up a drug deal for Steele. Fisher acknowledged that Steele 

and "two guys" went to purchase cocaine from Masten around 3:00PM and that they were supposed • 

to meet with Masten again later. 14 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 1610. Fisher also admitted to. 

calling Masten and connecting him on the three-way call with Steele.4 She iliitially denied 

knowing of a robbery plan, but she later admitted that she knew "they talked about [robbing 

Masten]." 14 RP at 1619. 

II. MOTION TO SEVER 

The State charged Fisher and Trosclair each with one count of fust degree felony murder 

and one count of second degree felony murder. Before trial, Fisher and Trosclair moved under 

CrR.4.4(c)(l) to sever their cases because the State planned to introduce Fisher's interview' 

transcript that referred to Trosclair by name throughout. The State proposed to substitute the 

phrase "the first guy" in place of Trosclair's name. But Trosclair believed that the use of"the fust 

guy" was an insufficient redaction. The trial court allowed the proposed redactions and denied the 

motion to sever. 

4 The record is somewhat unclear on this point, but it appears that Steele was using Trosclair's • 
phone for this call. · 

3 
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III. TRIAL 

Witnesses testified consistently with the facts as set forth above. In addition, Joseph : 

Adams, who was incarcerated in the Pierce County Jail on an unrelated crime, testified at trial in I 

exchange for a considerable reduction of his own prison term. Coincidentally, Trosclair had been 

placed in the same jail unit as Adams, who was Masten's close friend. 

I 
According to Adams, Trosclair told him that he and Steele planned to rob Masten because 1 

they believed Masten had tried to "cheat" them earlier· that day by selling them poor quality · 

cocaine. 12 RP at 1338. Trosclair told Adams that someone called Masten to "set up a deal" while i 
. , . . I 

i 

Trosclair and Steele waited in the parking lot. 12 RP at 1339. Trosclair explained that they "ran 

up on [Masten]" as he was getting into his car and that he shot Masten when Masten got "loud" , 

and reached for the gun. 12 RP at 1339. Trosclair then described his attempt to gain access to I 

Masten's apartment and his search of Masten's person ''to see what [Masten] had,'' before running 

from the scene when someone noticed him. 12 RP at 1339. 

Neither Fisher nor Trosclair testified. The jury found Fisher and Trosclair guilty of first I 

degree and second degree murder. The trial court dismissed the second degree murder convictions . 

to circumvent double jeopardy concerns. Fisher and Trosclair appeal. 

ANALYSIS 

SEVERANCE AND THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE 

Trosclair argues that the trial court should have severed his trial from Fisher's because the I 

redactions to Fisher's interview transcript were insufficient and, therefore, violated Trosclair's 

Sixth Amendment right to cross-examination. We hold that the redactions were insufficient under ; 

4 
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Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620,20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968), and its progeny .. 

We conclude, however, that any error was harmless. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND RULES OF LAw I 

We review alleged violations of the state and federal confrontation clauses de novo. State, 

v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. 40, 48, 48 P.3d 1005, review denied, 147 Wn.2d 1025 (2002). The 

confrontation clause guarantees the right of a criminal defendant ''to be confronted with the ' 

witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. amend. VI. A criminal defendant is denied the right ofl 
I 

confrontation when a nontestifying codefendant's confession that names the defendant as a 

participant in the crime is admitted at a joint trial, even where the court instructs the jury to consider : 

the confession only against the codefendant. Bruton, 391 U.S. at 135-36. But no violation of the: 
I 

confrontation clause occurs by the admission of a nontestifying codefendant's confession.with a I 

proper limiting instruction and where the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the , 

defendant's name, but any reference to his or her existence. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, I. 

211, 1 07 S. Ct. 1702, 9 5 L. Ed. 2d 17 6 ( 1987). Any such redaction must be more than an obvious 

blank space or other similarly obvious indications of alteration. Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 

192, 118 S. Ct. 1151, 140 L. Ed. 2d 294 (1998). 

To comply with the Bruton rule, our Supreme Court adopted CrR 4.4(c), which provides, 

(1) A defendant's motion for severance on the ground that an out-of-court 
statement of a codefendant referring to him is inadmissible against him shall be 
granted unless: 

(i) the prosecuting attorney elects not to offer the statement in the case in 
chief; or 

(ii) deletion of all references to the moving defendant will eliminate any 
prejudice to him from the admission of the statement. 
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Under this rule, the issue is whether the proposed redactions to a codefendant's statement are 

sufficient to eliminate any prejudice to the defendant. 

B. ADMISSION OF REDACTED TRANSCRIPT 

Trosclair alleges that the transcript contained several statements that allowed the jury to : 

conclude that "first guy" could not have been anyone other than TrQsclair. These included Fisher's' 

statements that (1) "first guy" did not have a car, (2) "first guy" lived in Kent, (3) "Mario," the 

"first guy," and an unknown man from California went to purchase drugs from Masten, (4) Fisher 

knew that the case was serious because "first guy" and Steele were already in jail as suspects, and 

(5) a statement that implied that "first guy~' was related to Fisher because when she was asked· 

whether a third PartY was related to "first guy'' she answered, ''No relation to my family" when the 

jury had already heard that Fisher and Trosclair were brother and sister. Br. of Appellant 

(Trosclair) at 23. 

In some cases, we have upheld the use of properly redacted statements. For example, in i 

State v. Cotten, Bryan Cotten contended that the trial court erroneously allowed witnesses to testify 

regarding various out-of-court statements made by Cotten's codefendant which implicated Cotten 

in the climes. 75 Wn. App. 669,690, 879 P.2d 971 (1994), review denied, 126 Wn.2d 1004 (1995) .. 

We disagreed, holding that evidence of statements made by Cotten's nontestifying codefendant! 

were admissible because they did not implicate, name, or even acknowledge the existence of 

Cotten as an accomplice. Cotten, 75 Wn. App. at 691. Similarly, in Medina, Division One of this 

court held that admission of incriminating statements made by a codefendant did not deprive Raul 

Medina of his right of confrontation when the statements were redacted to refer to the other · 

participants in the crime as "other guys," "the guy," "a guy," "one guy," and "they." 112 Wn. 
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App. at 51. Notwithstanding the fact that only three persons were charged, the testimony 

established that there were as many as six individuals involved. Medina, 112 Wn. App. at 51. The . 

Medina court concluded that no Bruton violation occurred because the statements were redacted· 

in such a way that it became impossible to track the activities of any particular "guy'' among the · 

several involved. 112 Wn. App. at 51. Therefore, the references to "the guys" and "a guy" did 

not create the inference of identification of Medina or the third codefendant. Medina, 112 Wn. 

App. at 51. 

In contrast, we have found violations· of the Bruton rule when a trial court admitted 

incriminating statements of a codefendant despite the fact that those statements had been redacted 

to eliminate the defendant's name. For instance, in State v. Vannoy, police officers observed three 

suspects fleeing the scene of a robbery. 25 Wn. App. 464,473,610 P.2d 380 (1980). Following 

a high-speed pursuit, three men were arrested, including Thomas Vannoy. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. 

at 473-74. Vannoy's two codefendants both made statements describing the events to law 

enforcement using a series of "we's" to refer to the group. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. at 473. We 

reversed Vannoy's conviction when it concluded that ajury, after hearing the redacted confessions·, 

and facts of the case, could readily determine that Vannoy was included in the ''we's" of the 

codefendants' statements. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. at 474-75. 

And in State v. Vincent, the State charged Vidal Vincent with attem:rted murder and assault · 

stemming from a drive-by shooting. 131 Wn. App. 147, 150, 120 P.3d 120 (2005), review denied, 

158 Wn.2d 1015 (2006). As he awaited trial, Vincent's codefendant confessed to Jason Speek, 

another jail inmate, simultaneously incriminating Vincent. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 150-51.1 

Over Vincent's objection, the trial court allowed the State to introduce the codefendant's 
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statements via Speek's testimony, provided that all references to Vincent were omitted. ~incent, I 
131 Wn. App. at 151. Speek testified that Vincent's codefendant told him that the codefendant 

and "the other guy" had been involved in an earlier gang fight and that when they returned to the 

scene, the codefen~ant shot the victim. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. ~t 155. We held that the admission I 

of Speek's testimony violated Vincent's rights under Bruton because there were only two 

participants in the crime and Speek testified that there was only one "other guy" with the : 

codefendant before, during, and after th.e shooting. ~incent, 131 Wn. App. at 154. Co.nsequently, I 

we concluded that the only reasonable mference the Jury could have drawn after heanng Speek's 

testimony was that Vincent was the "other guy." Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 154. 

Here, the State argues that Fisher's statement was sufficiently redacted because she' 
' ! 

implicated three men as participants in the crime and, therefore, there was more than one I 
i 

possibility regarding "first guy's" identity. We disagree. Although these statements appear 

facially neutral, the record reveals that the jury could easily infer that "first guy" was Trosclair.j 
I 

Accordingly, this case is analogous to Vannoy and Vincent and distinguishable from Cotton and· 

Medina. Even though Fisher implicated as many as three participants in the crimes, one of the 

three men was Steele, who was named at all times throughout the transcript. The two rem;llning 
1 

participants were "first guy". and an unknown man from California. Fisher said that she had never I 

seen the man from California before the day of the crime and had not seen him since. 

Meanwhile, Fisher provided several identifying details about "first guy" which revealed 

her personal knowledge regarding where "first guy" resides, how frequently "first guy" visits I 

Fisher, and whether he owns a car. Significantly, when Fisher was asked whether the man from I 

I 
California was related to the "first guy," she responds, ''No relation to my family." 14 RP at 1615. 
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By this point the jury had already heard that Trosclair lived in Kent and that he was Fisher's 

brother. 

Perhaps most egregiously, the State failed to redact Trosclair's first name from a portion 

of the interview transcript read to the jury. Near the end of the interview, Investigator Sean Conlon 

asked Fisher a series of questions concerning allegations that Masten prostituted Fisher when the 

two were dating. When Fisher denied having knowledge of these assertions, Conlon's responsive • 

questioning implied surprise because he had discussed this rumor with both "Corey" and Steele. 

14 RP at 1632. This reference to "Corey" was clearly a reference to Corey Trosclair, the defendant. . 

While this exchange did not relate directly to the crime, it explored motive, and it further 

emphasized the existence of a connection between Steele, Trosclair, and Masten. 

As the Gray court noted, there are some statements that, despite redactions, "obviously 

refer directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve inferences that a jury 

ordinarily could make immediately." 523 U.S. at 196. Here, as in Vincent, the only reasonable. 

inference the jury could have drawn was that Trosclair was "first guy." Although the trial court 

provided the necessary limiting instruction, the use of Fisher's redacted statement violated 

Trosclair's confrontation rights under Bruton and its progeny. Accordingly, we hold that the trial 

court erred in denying Trosclair's motion to sever based on the inadequately redacted statement. 

C. HARMLESS ERROR 

A confrontation clause error is subject to the constitutional harmless error test. Such an 

error is harmless if the evidence is overwhelming and the violation so insignificant by comparison 

that we are persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation did not affect the verdict. 

Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 154-55. Here, the State's untainted evidence of Trosclair's guilt was . 
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strong. Cell phone records placed Trosclair with Steele at the scene and in contact with Masten 

moments prior to the shooting. An eyewitness identified Trosclair as one of the perpetrators from· 

a photomontage. Moreover, Trosclair confessed his guilt to a fellow inmate, providing details that 

were unknown to anyone other than members of law enforcement. We hold that the violation of 

Trosclair's confrontation right was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, we hold 

that the trial court's denial of Trosclair's motion to sever his trial from Fisher's does not warrant 

reversal and affirm. 

A majority of the panel having determined that only the foregoing portion of this opinion' 

will be printed in the Washington Appellate Reports and that the remainder shall be filed for public 

record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

With regard to Trosclair's additional arguments, we hold that (1) the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion in refusing to grant Trosclair's motions for mistrial, (2) Trosclair's ineffective 

assistance of cout1sel claim fails because Trosclair cannot show that the trial's outcome would 

have been different, (3) Trosclair's prosecutorial misconduct claim fails because he is unable to 

show that the misconduct was flagrant and ill intentioned, and ( 4) the cumulative error doctrine 

does not require reversal. 

I. DENIAL OF MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL 

Trosclair next contends that the trial court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial 

after a police witness testified that he suggested Trosclair could clear himself if he ur1derwent a: 

polygraph examination. Trosclair argues further that the trial court erred by denying two other I 

motions for mistrial related to the State's use of allegedly testimonial statements associated with. 
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photomontage identifications in violation of his rights under the confrontation clause of the Sixth I 

Amendment. We disagree. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND RULES OF LAW 

We review the grant or denial of a motion for mistrial for an abuse of discretion. State v.

1 Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 707, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). A trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial 

"will be overturned only when there is a 'substantial likelihood' the prejudice affected the jury's 

verdict." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129. 
I 

(1995). And an appellate court finds abuse only "'when no reasonable judge would have reached I 

the same conclusion.'" State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273,284,778 P.2d 1014 (1989) (quoting Sofie 

I 

trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it, and ( 4) whether the prejudice was so grievous I 
I 

that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d at 284; State v. Mak, 

105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 995 (1986). 

B. POLYGRAPH QUESTION 

We first determine whether there was an "irregular occurrence" at trial. The general rule 

in Washington has long been that the "[r]esults of polygraph tests are not recognized in ! 

Washington as reliable evidence and are ... inadmissible without stipulation from both parties." I 

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 860, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing State v. Renfro, 96 Wn.2d 902, 

905,639 P.2d 737, cert. denied, 459 U.S. 842 (1982)). Nevertheless, "'[t]he mere fact [that] a jury I 

is apprised of a lie detector is not necessarily prejudicial if no inference as to the result is raised or 
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if an inference raised as to the result is not prejudicial.'" State v. Sutherland, 94 Wn.2d 527, 529, · 

617 P.2d 1010 (1980) (quoting State v. Descoteaux, 94 Wn.2d 31, 38~ 614 P.2d 179 (1980), 

overruled by State v. Danforth, 97 Wn.2d 255, 643 P.2d 882 (1982)). I 

Here, Martin's reference to a hypothetical polygraph was not improper. During trial, the 

State questioned Martin about his interview with Trosclair and the following exchange ocqurred: 

(THE STATE]: Okay. And then at the very end: Did you suggest a lie detector 
could clear Mr. Trosclair? 

[MARTIN]: Yes. 
[THE STATE]: What was his answer? 
[MARTIN]: No, it won't. 

8 RP at 855. Trosclair did not object, but instead moved for a mistrial. Trosclair contended that· 

this reference to the polygraph amounted to a violation of his constitutional right to remain silent. 

The trial court then denied the motion for mistrial, citing "the way the question was asked" in I 

support of its decision. 8 RP at 880. 

The State argues that Trosclair's response to the suggestion that a polygraph could clear · 

him was a reflection of his dishon~sty rather than his unwillingness to submit to a lie detector test I 

and, therefore, there was no indication that such a test was offered or refused. Although Trosclair 

admitted that a lie detector would not "clear" him, he did not refuse to take one nor was one offered.

1 

Martin's testimony was not improper testimony regarding unreliable polygraph results. Simply 

stated, there was no polygraph offered or refused and, therefore, no unreliable polygraph·results. 

Accordingly, the State did not elicit improper polygraph result testimony and there was no I 

"irregularity at trial." 

Even if we assume an irregularity occurred at trial, Trosclair's argument still fails when we 

examine the Hopson criteria. First, even if we assume that the introduction of the polygraph I 
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question testimony was irregular and prejudicial, when scrutinized in the context of the entire trial,: 

the seriousness of the irregularity is mitigated. The State did not submit evidence that Trosclair· 

was offered or refused a polygraph test. Thus, any irregularity was not serious. Second, the 

evidence was cumulative. Evidence showed that Trosclair confessed his crime to Adams. 

Additionally, cell phone records established Trosclair's presence in Lakewood on the day of the· 

crime. Third, the court did not instruct the jury to disregard the polygraph testimony, but Trosclair 

did not move to strike the testimony and did not request a limiting instruction. 

Finally, while the testimony allowed the jury to draw a prejudicial negative inference, that 

prejudice was not so grievous that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error because the • 

untainted evidence against Trosclair was overwhelming. In addition to the phone records that 

placed Trosclair with Steele at the scene and in contact with Masten moments prior to the shooting, 

an eyewitness identified Trosclair as one of the perpetrators from a photomontage. Moreover, 

Trosclair confessed his guilt to a fellow inmate, providing details that were unknown to anyone 

other than members of law enforcement. 

Accordingly, there was not a substantial likelihood that the admission of the polygraph 

testimony affected the jury's verdict. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85. The trial court, who is best suited 

to judge the prejudicial effect of a statement, State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 

(1983), heard argument and concluded that a mistrial was not required. We conclude that the trial 

court's denial of the motion for mistrial was not an abuse of its discretion. 

C. PHOTOMONTAGE TESTIMONY 

Trosclair also argues that the State violated his· right to confrontation when it presented 

testimonial evidence that allowed the jury to infer that Michelle picked Trosclair out of a 
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photomontage. Trosciair asserts that the trial court erred by denying his motions for mistrials after I 

the introduction of this evidence. We disagree .. 

I 
A part of a defendant's right to "be confronted with the witnesses.against him" in a criminal I 

trial, U.S. Canst. amend. VI, the State cannot introduce a testimonial statement from a 

nontestifying witness unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity I 

to cross-examine the witness. Crawfordv. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L.. 

Ed. 2d 177 cioo4 ). A statement is testimonial when its primary purpose is to establish facts I 

relevant to a criminal prosecution. Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 

L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). But as we mentioned above, error in admitting evidence in violation of the I 

confrontation clause is subject to a constitutional hannless error test. Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 

116, 139-40, 119 S. Ct. 1887, 144 L. Ed. 2d 117 (1999). Error is harmless if the State shows I 

'"beyond a reasonable doubt that the error compl~ned of did not contribute to .the verdict · 

· obtained."' State v. Jasper, 174 Wn. 2d 96, 117, 271 P.3d 876 (2012) (quoting Chapman v. i 

California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)). 

During Martin's direct examination, the following occurred: 

[THE STATE]: And please answer yes orno to the next question. The next day 
did you show Michelle Davis, Ms. [sic] Masten's girlfriend, a 
photomontage that included Corey Trosclair? 

[MARTIN]: Yes. 
[THE STATE]: Did you then get an arrest warrant for Corey Trosclair? 
[MARTIN]: Yes. 

8 RP at 831. Trosclair moved for mistrial shortly after this exchange, claiming that it left the jury I 

with the impression that Michelle picked Trosclair out of the photomontage without an opportunity . 

to cross-examine her. Then during closing argument, the prosecutor said, 
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It's not a coincidence that Michelle Davis picked these two out of a photomontage, 
or that Michelle picked Mario Steele out of a photomontage. It's not a coincidence 
that Aaron Howell picked Corey Trosclair out of the photomontage. 

16 RP at 1885. Trosclair again moved for mistrial. The trial court denied both motions. 

Trosclair's argument that the trial court erred by denying these motions fails for two: 

reasons. First, no actual statement from Michelle was ever presented. Second, even assuming 

without deciding that testimonial statements were involved by implication, th~ introduction of any I 

such evidence .in this context was harmless error. Whether or not the testimony left the impression 

that Michelle identified Trosclair from the photomontage, the jury knew that Howell had done so.

1 

The State could have properly substituted Howell's name for Michelle's. Reading the prosecutor's 

entire argument, it appears that he simply misspoke during closing argument when he suggested 

that Michelle had picked both Steele and Trosclair from the photomontage and that he quickly [ 
i 

corrected his mistake, reminding the jury that it was actually Howell who had identified Trosclair. 

Thus, any error was harmless and by extension there was not a substantial likelihood that the 

admission of the photomontage testimony affected the jury's verdict. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85.1 

Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Trosclair's motions. 

II. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Trosclair further asserts that his trial counsel was prejudicially ineffective for failing to · 

move to exclude any reference to the polygraph question at the pretrial stage. Even if we assume, : 

without deciding, that counsel's failure to move to exclude the polygraph evidence was deficient, I 

Trosclair cannot demonstrate that the outcome of the trial would have been different but for . 

counsel's deficient performance. 
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i 
To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Trosclair must show both deficient 

performance and resulting prejudice; failure to show either prong defeats this claim. State v. 

McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 28~ (2002). To establish prejudice, he must show that but! 

for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different.! 

Stricklandv. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,694, 104 S. Ct. 2052,80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). 

Here, as we discussed above, the State presented strong evidence of Trosclair's guilt (cell 

phone records, witness identification of Trosclair, Trosclair's own admissions of guilt) such that 

any prejudicial effect stemming from his trial counsel's failure to preemp~ the State's use of thel 

polygraph evidence cannot reasonably be said to have affected the outcome of his trial. Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 694. Consequently, we hold that Trosclair cannot show prejudice and, therefore, hel 

fails to satisfy the second prong of the test. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. 

III. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

We turn next to Trosclair's argument that the prosecutor committed flagrant, prejudicial 

misconduct in minimizing the State's burden of proof and misstating the role of the jury in two 

ways. First, the prosecutor misstated the role of the jury in explaining that it could convict the. 
i . . i 

defendant if they "knew" he was guilty. Second, the State again minimized the burden of proo~ 

I 

and misstated the jury's role through its use of "Power Point" slides that·negated elements ofthei 

crime necessary for conviction and implored the jury to "declare the truth." Br. of Appellant! 
! 

(Trosclair) at 47. We conclude that the prosecutor's argument, when considered in context, did 

not minimize the State's burden and also that the prosecutor's request that the jury "speak the 

truth," although improper, was not flagrant or ill intentioned. Therefore, Trosclair has waived any 

error. 
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A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

To establish prosecutorial misconduct, Trosclair has the burden of establishing that the I 

challenged conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 

81 PJd 830 (2003). We review the prosecutor's conduct "by examining that conduct in the full· 

trial context, including the evidence presented, 'the context of the total argument, the issues in the I 

case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury."' State v. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667,675,257 P.3d 551 (2011) (internal quotations marks omitted) (quoting 

State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006)). 

Because Trosclair failed to object to misconduct at trial, he is deemed to have waived any 

error unless he establishes that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that it caused an • 
I 

enduring prejudice that could not have ~een cured with an instruction to the jury and the j 

misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. 

State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 PJd 653 (2012); State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 

442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). The focus of this inquiry is more on whether the resulting prejudice 
I 

could have been cured, rather than the flagrant or ill-intentioned nature of the remark. Emery, 1741 

Wn.2d at 762. 

B. ADDITIONAL FACTS 

In closing argument, the prosecutor implored the jury to set aside any preexisting notions I 

and feelings it might have about what the reasonable doubt standard is or what it should be because 
I 

the court had told them what the standard is. Shortly thereafter, the prosecutor said, 

Satisfied, if you have an abiding belief that the defendants committed the 
robbery, you have a duty to convict them. That's exactly what the instructions tell 
you. So once you are satisfied-- this is --put this to you slightly different. At some 
point you are going to be sitting back in the jury room and somebody is going to 
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say, I know he did it, but I would like to see more. Well, of course you would like 
to see more. I know he did it but- and I want you to stop to think and say, I know 
he did it, I know he did it. At that point you have an abiding belief in the truth of 
the charge. You know he did it. 

. 16 RP at 1903-04. 

The prosecutor continued, discussing the application of the "reasonable doubt'' standard: 

It's a doubt that rises from the evidence or lack of evidence. In other words, when 
you are looking at the truth of the charge, you say it wasn't him. You say~ they 
didn't try to rob Lenard Masten. Th~ gunshot didn't kill him. That's a doubt that 
arises from the evidence, or the lack of evidence. 

Do you have enough? It's not do you wish you had more. Do you have 
enough? There will always be something else that you would like to see .. If you 
have an abiding belief it just means abiding, long lasting. Are you satisfied - when 
you reach your verdict today, are you satisfied tomorrow, are you satisfied two 
years from now? When you wake up three years from now, I did the right thing. 
It's not I'm 1,000 percent certain. It's, I know he did it. Are you going to be 
satisfied two years from now? I know he did it. 

16 RP at 1904-05. 

C. ANALYSIS 

Trosclair takes issue with the prosecutor's several references to whether the jury "knew[' 

he was guilty in the passages above, arguing that this language minimizes the burden of proof~ 
I 

the jury's mind. But he did not object to this argument at trial. When read in isolation, thes~ 

statements could appear to minimize the State's' burden of proof. But these words could also~ 
' 

read or interpreted as an unnecessary augmentation of the State's burden. The phrase ''I know bf 
did it" could also be construed a8 a requirement that a juror be convinced of a defendant's suqt 

with absolute certainty, which is more than the State is required to prove. 

Regardless, these comments are not flagrant and ill intentioned when read in the context ~f 

the argument. Immediately before the prosecutor made this argument, he quoted the en~e 

reasonable doubt instruction verbatim. It was only after doing so that he attempted to explain, ~ 
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lay terms, how an abiding belief is developed. Importantly, the prosecutor here endeavored to 

connect his argument with the correct legal standard and did not trivialize the State's burden by, 

for example, comparing the certainty required to convict with the certainty people used when they 

make everyday decisions. State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 732, 265 P.3d 191 (2011). 

Furthermore, even if Trosclair could demonstrate that this argument was flagrant and ill 

intentioned, he fails to show that an instruction reminding the jury to consider the evidence only 

in terms of the reasonable doubt standard could not have cured any prejudice. As mentioned, our 

focus is directed most strongly towards this consideration. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762. In Emery, 
i 

the court reasoned that had Emery objected to improper closing arguments at trial, the trial court/ 

would have properly explained the jury's role and reiterated the correct burden of proof, 

eliminating any confusion or prejudice. 174 Wn.2d at 764. The same is true here. 1 

Trosclair also claims that the State misstated the role of the jury with its use of a "Powerl 

Point" slide show because the State included slides which implied that the jury did not need to fin~ 
that the State proved each element of the crime to render a guilty verdict. Trosclair did not objec1' 

to the slides he now complains of. The State used the following slide in closing argument: , 

An Abiding Belief 
If you know Cprey Trosclair committed the crime of Robbery or Attempted 
Robbery, you have an abiding belief and he is gUilty of Murder in the First Degree 

Ex. 164, at 21. Trosclair argues that this slide and the accompanying statements imply that th 

jury need only determine whether Trosclair committed robbery to be guilty of first degree felon 

murder, which is improper because commission of the underlying felony is but one element ofth 

charge. While this is true, it appears from the context of the entire argument that the State frarne1 

the slide this way because if the State was able to prove that Trosclair participated in the robber~ 
. . I 

·19 



I 
I 
I 

J 

Consol. Nos. 43870-4-II I 43990-5-II 

that led to Masten's murder, he was guilty of murder because no other element of the crime was I 

in doubt. 

In addition to the commission of the robbery, the remaining elements included that (1) the 

defendant, or another participant, or a person to whom the defendant was acting as an accomplice, 

caused the death of Masten in the course of or in furtherance of such crime or in i~ediate flight[ 

from such crime, (2) Masten was not a participant in the crime, and (3) any of these acts occurred: 

in the State ofWashington. The State did not minimize its burden in the minds of the jury members 

because these. other elements were. never in dispute. What was in dispute was whether Trosclair[ 

participated in the robbery, the predicate crime to felony murder. Furthermore, two slides later, 1 

the State reminded the jury that the defendant is entitled to a fair trial and that the State was required 

to prove every element of the charge. The slides and the accompanying statements were not 

improper, but even if they were, it was not flagrant or ill intentioned such that any prejudice coulJ 

not be cured by an appropriate instruction. 

The State also used a slide in which it urged the jury to return verdicts that "speak the 
; 

truth." 16 RP at 1905. This court and our Supreme Court have consistently held that thes, 

arguments are improper. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760; State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 424,. 

220 P.3d 1273 (2009), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010). The Anderson court explained, 

A jury's job is not to "solve" a case. It is not, as the State claims, to "declare what 
happened on the day in· question." . . . Rather, the jury's duty is to determine 
whether the State has proved its allegations against a defendant beyond a reasonable 
doubt. 

153 · Wn. App. at 429. The court in Emery, agreeing that "declare the truth" statements were 

improper, carefully analyzed whether these arguments are flagrant or ill intentioned. 174 Wn.2~ 
! 

at 763. The court concluded that such arguments are not the type that our courts have traditionally 
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found inflammatory-like arguments that appeal to racial biases or local prejudices-so these 1 

arguments lacked any possibility of inflammatory effect. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 763. Accordingly, 

here, the State's demand that the jury "declare the truth," though improper, was not flagrant or ill- I 

intentioned misconduct incurable by an instruction and, therefore, we hold that Trosclair's 

prosecutorial misconduct claims fail. 

IV. CUMULATIVE ERROR 

Finally, Trosclair contends that even if the alleged errors did not compel reversal 

individually, their cumulative effect should because that effect deprived Trosclair of his state andl 

constitutional rights to a fair trial. Because Trosclair cannot show that he was substantially 

prejudiced to the extent that he was denied a fair trial considering the totality of the circumstances, I 

we hold that the cumulative error doctrine does not warrant reversal in this instance. 

I 

The. cumulative error doctrine applies where a combination of trial errors denies the 

accused a fair trial even where any one of the errors, taken individually, may not justify reversal.[ 

State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, .1 0 P.3d 390 (2000). The defendant bears the burden of 

proving an accumulation of error of sufficient magnitude that retrial is necessary. State v.l 

Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 98,210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (citing In re Pers. Restraint ofLord, 123, 

Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835, 870 P.2d 964, cert. denied, 513 U.S. 849 (1994)). But th~ doctrind 

does not apply where the errors are few and have little or no effect on the outcome of the triali 

State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006), cert. denied, 551 U.S. 1137 (2007); 

Analysis of this issue depends on the nature of the errors because a constitutional error require~ 

reversal unless the· reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable 

I 
jury would have reached the same result absent the error. State v. Whelchel, 115 Wn.2d 708, 7281 
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801 P.2d 948 (1990). Nonconstitutional error requires reversal only if, within reasonable! 

probabilities, it materially affected the outcome of the trial. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127,, 

857 P.2d 270 (1993). 

Here, Trosclair's rights under the confrontation clause were violated, but that error wasl 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not affect the outcome of the trial. The State's "speak 

the truth" statement was improper, but was neither flagrant nor ill intentioned. There was arguably1 

an error associated with the polygraph question. But the untainted evidence against Trosclair was 

strong and the errors did not deny Trosclair a fair trial. The polygraph testimony did not materially! 

affect the outcome of trial nor would any reasonable jury have re·ached a different result in the 

absence of the possible error. In light of all the evidence, we reject Trosclair's argument that the 

cumulative effect of these errors supports reversal of his conviction. According! y, we affirm 

I 
Trosclair's conviction. 

ANALYSIS -FISHER 

Fisher appeals her conviction, arguing that the State presented insufficient evidence to 

prove that she acted as an accomplice and that the trial court erred when it refused to provide the1 

jury her proposed affinnative defens.e jury instruction. We hold that there was sufficient evidence! 

to support Fisher's conviction because she aided in the conunission of the offense and because she 

failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she was entitled to the instruction; the trial 

court did not err in declining to give the requested instruction. 

I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

Fisher argues that the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

she acted as an accomplice to felony murder because the fact that she coordinated the final phone 
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call to Masten, coupled with her reluctance to discuss the case with law enforcement, does not 

amount to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Because Fisher coordinated the final phone call to 

set up the sham drug deal with knowledge that she was assisting· in a planned robbery, her claim 

fails. We hold that sufficient evidence supports Fisher's conviction. I 

To determine whether evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction, we review the evidence! 
l 

in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 347, 68 PJd 282 (2003).1 

The relevant question is "'whether any rational fact finder could have found the essential elements 

ofthe crime beyond a reasonable doubt."' State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-35, 225 PJd 237 
. I 

(2010) (quoting Wentz, 149 Wn.2d at 347). In claiming insufficient evidence, the defendan 

necessarily admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be dra 

from it. Drum, 168 Wn.2d at 35 (citing State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 
I 
i 

(1992)). We interpret the evidence '"most strongly against the defendant."' State v. Hernandez, 1 

172 Wn. App. 537, 543, 290 P.3d 1052 (2012) (quoting State v. Joy, 121 Wn.2d 333, 339, 851 

P.2d 654 (1993)), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1022 (2013). We consider both circumstantial anl 

direct evidence as equally reliable and defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony l 
witness credibility, and the persuasiveness ofthe evidence. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874-75. 

To convict Fisher of first degree murder, the State had to prove the following elements: 

(1) That on or about the 16th day of January, 2011 the defendant or a person 
to whom the defendant was acting as an accomplice, committed or attempted to 
commit the crime of Robbery in the First Degree or Robbery in the Second Degree; 

(2) That the defendant, or another participant, or a person to whom the 
defendant was acting as an accomplice, caused the death of Lenard Masten in the 
course of or in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such crime; 

(3) That Lenard Masten was not a participant in the crime; and 
(4) That any ofthese acts occurred in the State of Washington. 
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Clerk's Papers (Fisher) at 172; RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c). A person is guilty of a crime as 

accomplice when 

(a) [w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission ofthe 
crime, he or she: · 

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to 
commit it; or 

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it. 

RCW 9A.08.020(3). "Aid" means all assistance given by words, acts, encouragement, support, o 

presence. And a person who is an accomplice in the commission of a crime is guilty of that crim 
I 

. I 

whether present at the scene or not. I 

Here, Adams testified that Trosclair told him that someone called Masten to set up a druJ 
deal while Trosclair and Steele were waiting outside of Masten's apartment. Fisher admitted to 

initiating the three-way phone call with Masten moments before his death. Fisher admitted to 

Conlon first that she knew that Steele and Trosclair had discussed robbing Masten, then that she 

thought they would likely rob him, and finally that Steele told her they were going to .rob Masten. I 

Notwithstanding the fact that Fisher vacillated, backpedaled, and described the events 

inconsistently, the State presented enough information for a rational fact finder to find the essenti~~ 

elements offelony murder beyond a reasonable doubt. We hold that the State presented sufficienl 

evidence to support Fisher's conviction as an accomplice to first degree murder. 
1 

I 
I 

II. AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE INSTRUCTION 

Fisher also argues that the trial court's refusal to offer one of her proposed jury instructions 
I 

violated her constitutional right to present a defense and to inform the jury of the applicable law.[ 

We hold that the trial court did not err in refusing to give the instruction and, accordingly, wei 

affirm Fisher's conviction. 
I 
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The standard of review for a refusal to give a requested jury instruction depends on whethe 

the refusal was based on a matter of law or fact. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771,966 P.2~ 
I 
i 

883 (1998). If the refusal was based on a matter of law, our review is de novo; if it was based o1 

a matter of fact, we review the refusal for an abuse of discretion. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 771-721 

Jury instructions are adequate if they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do no, 

mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. Stat.e y. Barnes, 153 Wn.21 

378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). And a defendant is entitled to an instruction on his theory ofth1 

case if the evidence supports that theory. State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 105~ · 

( 1997). But a defendant raising an affinnative defense must offer sufficient admissible evidence 

to justify giving the jury an instruction on the defense. State V. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 237, 8Sq 

I 

P.2d 495 (1993). In evaluating whether the evidence is sufficient to support such an instructionj 

the trial court must interpret the evidence most strongly in favor of the defendant. State v. Mullins 
i 

128 Wn. App. 633, 639, 116 P.3d 441 (2005) (citing State v. May, 100 Wn. App. 478, 482, 99~ 
I 

P.2d 956, review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1004 (2000)). J' 

Here, the trial court determined that Fisher was not entitled to the statutory affirmativ 
I 

defense instruction presumably because she did not present sufficient evidence to establish eac~ 

ofthe required elementS.5 Therefore, the court's determination was based on a matter of law andj 

thus, our review is de novo. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 772. I 

Fisher requested that the court provide the jury with 11 Washington Practice: Pattern Ju1 

Instructions: Crimina/19.01, at 291 (3d ed. 2008), which provides, 

It is a defense to a charge of murder in the [first][second] degree based upon 
[committing][or][attempting to commit](flll in felony) that the defendant: 

5 The trial court did not indicate the ground on which it was refusing to provide the instruction. 
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, request, command, 
importune, cause, or aid the commission thereof; and 
Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, article, or 
substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical injury; and 
Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant was armed 
with such a weapon, instrument, article, or substance; and 
Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant intended to 
engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 
The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance 

of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, 
considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. 
If you fmd that the defendant has est{lblished this defense, it will be your duty to 
return a verdict of not guilty [as to this charge]. 

I 

At trial, the State conceded that there was no dispute that Fisher satisfied elements one and 

two. The State argues, however, that because the burden was on Fisher, she was required to present 
I 

I 
some evidence to establish the third and fourth elements, which she did not do. Fisher contends 

that a preponderance of the evidence means that all of the evidence is considered and, therefore, a· 
! 

lack of evidence in the State's case to show ·she had a reasonable belief that either Steele or
1 

Trosclair was armed with a weapon was equally sufficient. We agree with the State that Fisher 

had the burden to present evidence that she was entitled to the affirmative defense instruction thatl 

she requested, and that she failed to do so. Fisher had to present some evidence that she "had no 

reasonable grounds to believe" that any other participant was armed with such a weapon,l 

instrument, article, or substance, and that she had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 

participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. 

Fisher did not testify nor did she call witnesses. Our review of the record reveals no evidence thaJ 

Fisher had "no reasonable grounds to believe" that another participant was armed and that no other 

participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 
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A relatively low evidentiary burden is a burden nonetheless and no evidence at trial 1 

I' 
I 

supported a determination that Fisher had no reasonable grounds to believe that other participants i 
i 

were armed and planned to engage in conduct resulting in injury. We hold that the trial court did 
I 

not err in refusing to give the requested instruction. 

Accordingly, we affirm Trosclair's and Fisher's convictions. 

We concur: 

lA~J...-'V~RSWICK J. 0-

A4;c.R.~--
MELNICK, J. '"J 
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STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 43870-4-II 
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v. 

KISHA LASHA WN FISHER, PART PUBLISHED OPINION 

A ellant. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, (Consolidated with No. 43990-5-ll) · 

Respondent, 

v. 

COREY TROSCLAIR, 

A ellant. 

' . 
JOHANSON, C.J. - A jury found Kisha Fisher and Corey Trosclair guilcy of first degree 

murder.' Tro~ and Fisher appeal their convictions. In the published portion of the opinio1 

we hold that Trosclair's rights under the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment wer~ 
I 

1 RCW 9A.32.030(l)(c). 
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violated because the redactions in a nontestifying codefendant's .statements were insufficient under; 

current confrontation clatise jurisprudence. But we hold t\lrther that the error was harmless beyond
1 

• I 
0 i 

a reason;able doubt. Therefore, fl:lthough the trial court shoUld have severed Trosclair's case from 

Fisher's, the court's refusal to do so does not· require reversal. In the unpublish~ portion ofthe 

0 opinion, we address Trosclair's and Fisher's remaining claims and affirm.their convictions. I 

·FACTS 

I. THE SHOOTING INVESTIGATION 

In January 2011, Lenard Masten received a.fatal gunshot wound at an apartment complex 

in Lakewood. Several apartment ~esidents heard the gunshot. Michelle Davis,2 Masten'j 

girlfriend, said that Masten had received a telephone· call regarding a drug sale. After. he left. 

Michelle3 heard a loud noise and saw one man standing over Masten while another man ran up the 

stairs··t~wards Masten's apartme~t. Nadise Davis described a similar sc~ne. Nadise heard thJ 
gunShot, looked out the window, and saw a man standing over Masten cursing loudly and digging 

through Masten's .pockets. Nadise also saw a second man with a gun coming down a stairwell~ 

Aaron Howell heard the gunfire. and saw a IDEliJ. in a dark-colored sport utility vehicle leave the 

area. Howell subsequently identifi~ Trosclair from a photomontage as ~e man he had seen thf 

night Masten was murdered. 

2 Michelle Davis died in an unrelated incident before trial, but made statements to police that the 
trial court appears to have admitted as .excited utterances. · I 

3 Michelle shares a surn8:ID.e with several family members who testified ir!. this case. We identifY 
members of the Davis family by their first names for clarity, intending no disrespect. 

2 



Consol. Nos. 43870-4-II I 43990-5-II 

Masten's cell phone records revealed pertinent information. The records showed numero 
. 

calls between Mario Steele and Masten on the day. Masten was killed, including a three-way phon 

· the three-way call. 

Investigator Jeff Martin interviewed Fisher, Steele's girlfriend and Trosclair's sister, wh 

admitted that she called Masten to set up a drug deal f?r Steele. Fisher acknowledged that Steel 

. and ''two guys" went to purchase cocaine from Masten around 3:00PM and that they were suppose 

to meet with Masten again later. 14 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 1610. Fisher also admitted t 

calling Masten and connecting him on the three-way call with Steele. 4 She initially deni 

knowing of a robbery plan, but she later admitted that she knew "they talked abOut [robbin 

Masten]." 14 RP at 1619. 

· · II. MOTION TO SEVER 

The State charged Fisher and Trosclair each with one count of first degree felony murd 

and one count of second degree felony murder. Before tri~, Fisher and Trosclair moved unde 

CrR.4.4(c)(l) to sever their cases because the State planned to introduce Fisher's intervie 

transcript that referred to Trosclair by name throughout. The State proposed to substitute th 

·phrase "the first guy" in place of Trosclair's name. But Trosclair believed that the use of"the fi 

guy•: was an insufficient redaction. The trial court allowed the ~reposed redactions and denied thi . 

motion to sever. . . 

. . I 
4 The .record is somewhat unclear on this point, but it appears that Steele was using Trosclair'~ 
phone for this call. . . · 

3 
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m .. TRIAL 

Witnesses testified consistently with the facts as set forth above. In addition, Joseph 

Adams, who was incarcerated in the Pierce County Jail on an unrelated crime, testified at trial in] 
'exchange for a considerable reduction of his own prison term. Coincidentally, Trosclair had been: 

placed in the same jail unit as Adams, who was Masten's close friend. 

According to Adams, Trosclair told him that he and Steele planned to rob Masten because 

. th~. believed Masten bad tried to "cheat" _them earlier' that . day by selling them poor q~ty 
. • . . I 

cocaine. 12 RP at 1338. Trosclair told Adams that someone called Masten to "set up a deal" while 

Trosclair and Steele waited in the parking lot. 12 RP at 133.9. Trosclair explained that they '~ 

up on [Masten]" as he was getting into his car and that he shot Masten when Masten ,got "loud,j 

and reached for the gun. 12 RP at 1339. Trosclair then described his attempt to gain access to 

Masten's apartment and his s~arch of Masten's person "to see V[l:).at [Masten] had," b~fore runninJ 
from the scene when someone noticed him. 12 RP at 1339 . 

. Neither Fisher nor Trosclair testified. The jury found Fisher and Tro~clair guilty of :O.J 
degree and second degree murder. The trial court dismissed the second degree murder convictionS 

-to circumvent double jeopardy conce~. Fisher and Trosclair appeal. 

ANALYSIS 

SEVERANCE AND THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE 

Trosclair argues that the trial court should have severed his trial from Fisher's because the . . 

redactions to Fisher's interyiew trans~pt were insufficient and,. therefore, violated Trosclair'~ 

Sixth Amendment right to cross-examination. We hold that the redactions were insufficient under 

4 
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Bruton v. Untted States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968), and its progO.J 
I 
! 

We conclude, however, that any error was hannless. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND RULES OF LAW 

We review alleged violations of the state and federal c~nfrontation clauses de novo . . Sfatel 

v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. 40, 48, 48 .P.3d 1005, review denied, 147 Wn.2d 1025 (2002) .. The. 

confrontation clause ·guarantees the right of a criminal defendant ''to be confronted with the 

witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. amend. VI. A crlniinal defendant is denied the right of 

coofu>ntation when a nontestifying codefendant's confession .that names the def.;,dant as , 

participant in the crime is admitted at a joint trial, even where the court instructs the jury to consider 
0 0 

~e confession only against the codefendant. Bruton, 391 U.S. at 135-36. But no violation ofth~ 

confrontation clause occurs by the a~ssion of a nontestifying codefendant's confession with a 

proper limiting instruction and where the confession is redacted to eliminate not ~nly th~ 
0 0 

defendant's name, but ~y reference to his or her existence. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200; 
.. 

211, 107 S. Ct. 1702,95 L. Ed. 2d 176 (1987). Any such redaction must be more than an obvious 

blank space or other similarly obvio:us indications of alteration. Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185

1

. 

192, 118 S. Ct. 1151, 140 L. Ed. 2d 294 (1998). · . 

. To comply with the Bruton rule, our Supr~me Court ~dopted CrR 4.4(c), which provides,; 

(1) A defendant's motion for severance on the ground that an out-of-court 
statement of a codefendant referring to him is inadmissible .against him shall be 
granted unless: 

(i) the prosecuting attorney elects riot to offer the statement in the case in 
chief; or 

(ii) deletion of all-references to the moving defendant will eliminate any 
prejudice to him from the admission of the statement. 

5 
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Under fui:s rule, the issue is whether the proposed redactions to a codefendant's statement ar~ 
I . . 

sufficient to eliminate any prejudice to the defendant. 

B. ADMISSION OF REDACTED TRANSCRIPT . I 

Trosclair alleges that the transcript contained several statements ~at allowed the jury to 

concl~de that ."fust ~" could not have been anyone other th~ Trqsclair. These i:r;tcluded Fisher' J 
statements that (1) "fust guy" did not have a car, (2) "first guy" lived in Kent, (3) "Mario," the 

. . I 
I 

"first guy," and an unknown man from California went to purchase drugs from Masten, (4) Fisher 

knew that the case was serious because "first guy".a:rtd Steele were already in jail as suspects, an1 

(5) ~.statement that implied that "first guY,' was .related to Fisher because when she was asked 

whether a third PartY was related to "first guy" she answered, ''No relation to my family" when th~ 

· jury had already heard that Fisher and Trosclair. were brother and sister. Br. of Appellant 

(Trosclair) at 23. 
I • 

In some cases, we have upheld the use of properly redacted statements. Fo~ example, ip 
I 

State v .. Cotten, Bryan Cotten contended that the trial court erroneously allowed witnesses to testify 

regarding various out-of-court statements made by Cotten;s codefendant which i.I_nplicated Cottep 

in the crjmes. 75 Wn. App. 669,690, 879 P.id 971 (1994), review denied, .126 Wn.2d 1004 (1995). 

We disagreed, holding that evidence of statements made by Cotten's no~ testifying codefenrnJ.t 

were admissible because they did not implicate, name, or even acknowledge the existence of 
. I 

Cotten as an accomplice. Cotten, 75 Wn. App. at 691. Similarly, in Medina, Division One ofthis 

court held that admission of incriminating statements made by a codefendant did not deprive ~ 

Medina of his right of 'confrontation when the statements were redacted to refer to the other 

participants in the crime as "other guys," ''the guy," "a guy," "one guy," and ''they:" 112 Wp. 

6' 
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App. at 51. Notwithstanding the fact that only three persons were charged, the testimony 

established that there were as many as six individuals involved. Medina, 112 Wn.' App. at 51. The 

Medina court concluded that no Bruton violation occurred because the statements were redacted 

in such a way that it became impossible to track the activities of any particular "guy" among the 

several involved. 112 Wn. App. at 51. .Therefore, the references to '<the guys" and "a guy" did 

not create the inference of identification of Medina or the third codefend!IDt. Mec#na, 112 Wn. 

App. at 51. 
. . 

In contrast, we have found violations· of the Bruton rule when a trial court admitted 

incriminating statements of a codefendant despite the fact that those statements had been redacted 

to eliminate the defendant's name. For instance, in State v. Vannoy, po~ice officers observed three 

suspects fleeing the scene of a robbery. 25 Wn. App. 464, 473, 610 P.2d 380 (1980). Following 
. I 

a high-speed pursuit, three men we~e arrested, including Th?mas Vannoy. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. 1 

at 473-74. · Vannoy's two cod~fendants both made statements describing the events to law 

e~orcement using a series of ''we's'! to refer to the ~oup. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. at 473. Wei 

reversed Vannoy's conviction when it concluded that a jury, after hearing the redacted confessions· 

and facts of the case, c~uld r~y d~tennine that Vannoy ·was included in the "we'~" of thj. 

codefendants' statements. Vannoy, 25 Wn. App. at 474-75. 
. . 

And in State v. Vincent, the State charged Vidal Vincent with attem~ted murder and assaUlt 

stemm.i:il.g from a drive-by shooting. 131 Wn. App. 147, 150, 120 P.3d 120 (2005), review denied~ 

158 _Wn.2d 1015 (2006). As he awaited trial, Vincent's codefendant corifessed to Jason Speek, 

another jail inmate, simultaneously incriminating Vincent. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 150-51;· 

Over Vincent's objection, the trial court allowed the State to introduce the codefendant's 

7 
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. statements via Speck's testimony, provided that all references to' Vincent were omitted. VIncent, 

131 Wn. App. at 15~. Speek testified that· Vincent's codefendant tol~ him that the codefendant· 

and "the other guy'' had been involved in an earlier g~g fight and that when they returned to the , 

'scene, the codefen~tshotthevicti.m. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 155. We held that the admission·1 

of s~·s ~ony violated Vincent's 'rights under Bruton because there wete only two; 

participants in the crime and Speek testified that there was only one "other guy'' with the 

codefendant before, during, and after the shooting. Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 154. Consequently, 

· we concluded that the ~nly re8sonable inference the jury could have dravvn after hearing SpCek's ' 

testimony was that Vincent was the."other guy." Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 154. 

Here, the State argues tliat Fisher's statement was sufficiently redacted because she 

implicated three men as participants in the crime and, therefore, there was more than one 

possibility regarding "first guy's" identity. We disagree. Although these staten;tents appear 

facially neutral, the .record reveals that the jury could easily infer that "first guy'' was Trosclair.: 

Aecordingly, this case is analogous to Vannoy and Vincent and distinguishable from Cotton and' 
. . . 

Medina. Even though Fisher implicated as many as three participants in the crimes, one of the : 

three men V/W! ~le, WhO m.lS named at all tJ.J:neS throughOUt the transcript. :me twO reJni3iDj~g 

participants were ''first guy" and an unknown man from California. Fisher said that she had never 

seen the man from California before the day of the crime and had not seen him since. 

Meanwhile,. Fisher provided several identifying details about "first guy'' which revealed · . ' . . ,• . . 
· her personal knowledge regarding where "first guy" resides, how frequently ''first guy" visits : 

Fisher, and whether he owns a car. Significantly, when Fisher was asked whether the man from : 

·California was related to the·~ guy," she responds, ''No relation to my family." 14 RP at 1615. 

8. 
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By this point the jury had already heard that Trosclair lived in Kent and that he was Fisher's: 

brother. 

Perhaps most egregiously, the State failed to redact Trosclair's first name from a portion 

of the interview transcript iead to the jury. Near the end of the interview, Investigator Sean Conlon • 

asked Fisher a series of questions concerning allegations that Masten prostituted Fisher when the 

two were dating. When Fisher denied having knowledge of these assertions, Conlon's responsive · 

questioning implied surprise because he had discussed this rumor with both "Corey" and Steele. 

14 RP at 1632. 1bis reference to "Corey" was clearly a referenc~ to Corey Trosclair, the defendant.. 

While this exchange did not relate directly to. the crime, it explored motive, and it further . 

' 
emphasized the existence of a connection· between Steele, Trosclair, and Masten. 

As the Gray court noted, there are some statements that, despite redactio:QS, "obviously . 

~er directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve inferen~ that a jury 

ordinarily could make immediately." 523 U.S. at 196. Here, as in V'mcent, the only reasonable 

Inference the jury could have dra.\V:Q. was that Trosclair was "first guy." Although the trial court, 
. ) 

provided the necessary limiting instruction, the use of Fisher's redacted statement violated 

Trosclair's confrontation rights under Bruton and its progeny. Accordingly, we hold that the trial 

court erred in denying Trosclair's motion to sever based on the inadequately redacted statement 

C. HARMLESS ERRoR 

A confrontation clause error is subjecf to the co~tutional harmless error test. Such an 
. . 

error is harmless if the evidence is overwhelming and the violation SQ insignificant by comparisOn 

that ~ are pe~ed beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation did not affect the verdi~ 

Vincent, 131 Wn. App. at 154-55. Here, the State's untainted evidence of Trosciair's guilt was 1 
. ! 

9 
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strong. Cell phone records placed Trosclair with Steele at the scene and in con~ct with Maste~ 

moments prior to the shooting. An eyewitness identified Trosclair as one of the perpetrators froj 

a photom?ntage. Moreover, Trosclair·confessed his guilt to a fellow inm~te, providing details tha~ 

were unknown to anypne other than members oflaw enforcem~t. We hold that the violation o~ 

Trosclair's confrontation right was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, we hold 

that the trial court's denial of Trosclair's motion to sever his trial from Fisher's does not warran~ 

reversal and affirm. 

A majority of the panel having determined that only the foregoing portion o(this opinio~ 

will be printed in the Washington Appellate Reports and that the remainder shall be filed for publi9 

record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

With regard to Trosclair's additional arguments, we hold that (1) the trial court did no~ 

abuse its discretion in refusing to grant Troscla,ir's motions· for mistrial, (2) Trosclair's ineffectiv~ 

assistance of coUiiSel claim fails because Trosclair cannot show that the trial's outqome woul1 

have been diffe;rent, (3) Trosclair's prosecutorial misconduct claim fails ~ecause he is unable ta 

show that the misconduct was flagrant and ill intentioned, and (4) the cumulative error doctrine 

does not require reversal. 

I. DENIAL OF MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL 

Trosclair next contends that the trial court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial! 

after a police witness testified that he suggested Trosclair could clear himself if he underwent ~ . . 

polygraph examination. Trosclair .argues further that the trial court erred by denying two other 

motions for mistrial related to the State's use of allegedly testimonial statements associated witl:t 

10 
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photomontage iden~cations in violation of his rights under the confrontation clause of the Sixtl). 

AID.endment. We disagree. 

A. STANDARD OP REVIEW AND RULES OF LAW 

We review the grant or denial of a motion for mistrial for an abuse of discretion. State v1 

Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, _707, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). A trial coUrt's ·denial of a motion for mistriaf 
"will be overturned only when there is a 'substantial likelihood' the prejudice cdfected the jury'~ 

verdict." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 112Q 

(1995). And an appellate court finds abuse only "'when no reasonable judge wo.uld have reache1 

the same conclusion.,.. State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P .2d I 014 (1989) (quoting Sofie 

v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 667 •. 771 P.2d 711, 780 P.'2d 260 (1989)). In determinin~ 

whether ~e effect of an iriegular occurrence at trial affected the trial's outcome, we· examine (1) . . . 

the seriousness of the irregularity, (2) whether it involved cumulative e\ridence, (3) whether thq 

trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it, and ( 4) whether the prejudice was so grievo~ 

that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d at 284; State v. Malq 

105 Wn.2d 692,701, 718·P2d 407, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 995 (1986). 

B. POLYGRAPH QUESTION 

We first determine whether there was an "irregular occurrence" at trial. The general rul~ 

in Washington has long been that the "[r]esults of polygraph test~ are not recognized i4 

Washington as reliable evidence and are ... inadmissible without stipulation from both parti~s.'r 

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821,860,83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing State v. Renfro, 96 Wn.2d 902, 

905,639 P.2d 737, cert. denied, 459 U.S. 842 (1982)). Nevertheless, "'[t]he m~re fact [that] a jury 

is apprised of a lie detector is not necessarily prejudicial if no inference as to the result is rais~d oz: 

11' 
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if an inferenceraised as to the result is not prejudicial."' Stat.e v. Sutherland, 94.Wn.2d 527, 529j 

617 P.2d 1010 (1980) (quoting State v. Descoteaux, 94 Wn.2d 31, 38~ 614 P.2d 179 (1980)1 

overruled by State v. Danforth, 97 Wn.2d 255, 643 P.2d 882 (1982)). 

Here, Martin's reference to a hypothetical polygraph was not improper .. During trial, thq 

State questioned Martin about his interview with Trosclair and the .following exchange occurred: 

[TilE STATE]: Okay. And then at the very end: Did you suggest a lie detector 
could clear Mr. Trosclair? 

[MARTIN]: Yes. 
[TilE STATE]: What was his answer? 
[MARTIN]: No, it won't. 

8 RP at 855. Trosclair did not obje~t, but instead mov~.for a mistrial. Trosclair contended th~ 

this reference to the polygraph amounted to a violation of his constitutional right to remain silent1 

The trial court then denied the motion for mistrial, citing "fu:e way the question was asked" iJi. 

support of its decision. 8 RP at 880. 

The State argues that Trosclair's response to the suggestion that a polygraph could cleat 
. . . I 

him was a reflection of his· dishonesty rather than his unwj.llingness to submit to a lie detector test 
and, therefore, there was no indication that such a test was offered or refused. Although Trosclaif· 

admitted that a lie detector would not "clear" him, he did not refuse to take one nor was one offered! 

Martin's testimony was not improper testimony regarding unreliab.le polygraph· results. Simply 

stated, there was no polygraph offered or refused and, ther~fore, no unreliable polygraph·res~ts~ 

Accordingly, the State did not elicit improper polygraph result testimony and there was n' 

"irregularity at trial." 
. . 

Even if we assume an irregularity occurred at trial, Trosclair's argument still fails when w(: 

examine the Hopson criteria. First, even if we assume that the introduction of the polygraph 

12 
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question testimony was irregular and prejudicial, when scruf;inized in the context oftl?-e entire trial, 

the seriousness of the irregularity is Jn1,tigated. The State did not submit evidence that Trosclair 

was offered or refused a polygrap4 test. Thus, any irregularity was not serious. Seeond, the 

evidence was cumulative. Evidence showed that Trosclair confessed his crime to Adams. 

Additionally, cell phone records established Trosclair's presence in L8:kewood on the day of the 

crime. Third, the court did not instruct the jury to disregard the polygraph testimony, but TrOsclair 

did not move to strike the testimony and did not request a limiting instruction. 

Finally, while the testimony allowed the jury to draw a prejudi~ial negative inferen~, that 

prejudice was not so grievous that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error because the I 

untainted evidence against Trosclair was overwhelming. In addition t9 the phone records that 
I 

pl~ed Trosclair with Steele at the s~e and in contact with Masten moments prior to the shooting,/ 

an eyewitness identified Trosclair as one of the perpetrators fro~ a photomon~e. Moreover,:' 

Trosclair conf~sed his guilt to a. fellow inmate, providing details that were unknown to anyone 

other than members of law enforcement. 

Accordingly, there was not a substan~al likelihc>od that the admission of the polygraph 

testimony affected the jury's verdict Russell, 125 wn:2d at 85. The trial co~ who is.best Suited 

to judge the prejudicial effect of a statement, State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 15 8, 166, 659 P .2d 1102 

(1983), .heard argun,.ent and concluded that a nrlstrial was not required. We 'conclude that the trial 

co~'s denial ofthe motion for mistrial was not an abuse of its discretion. 

C. PHOTOMONTAGE :rBSTIMONY 

Trosclair Slso argues that the State violated his right to confrontation ~en it presented 

testimonial · evid,ence that allowed the jury to infer that Mi~elle . picked Trosclair out of a 

13 
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photomontage. Trosclair asserts that the trial court erred by denying his motions for mistrials after 

the introduction of this evidence. We disagree .. 

A part of a defendant's right to "be confronted with the witnesses.againsi him" in a criminal 
. . 

trial, ·u.s. Const. amend. VI, the State cannot introduce a testimonial statement from a 

nontestifYing witness unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior o:pportunity 

to cross-examine the witness. 0-awfordv. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68~ 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. 

Ed. 2d 177 (2004). A statement .is testimonial when its primary purpose is to establish facts • 

relevant to a criminal prosecution. Davis v .. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 8~, 126 S. qt. 2266, 165 

L. Ed. 2d 424 (2006). But as we mentioned above, error in admitting evidence in violation of the 

confrontatio11; clause is subject to a constitutional harmless error ~· Li/ly·v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 

116, 139-40, 119 s. Ct. 1887, 144 L. Ed. 2d 117 (1999). Error is harmless if the State shows 

"'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complamed of did not contribute to .the verdict 

·obtained."' State v .. 'Jasper, 174 Wn. 2d 96, 117,271 P.3d 876 (2012) (quoting Chapman v. 

California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)) .. 

During Martin's direct examination, the following occurred: 

[THE STATE]: And please -answer yes or' no to the next question. The next day 
· did .you show Michelle Davis, Ms. [sic] Masten's girlfri<md, a 

photomontage that included Corey Trosclair? 
[MARTIN]: Yes. · 
[THE STATE]: Did you then ·get an arrest warrant for Corey Trosclair? 
[MARTIN]: Yes. 

I· 
! 
! 
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It's not a coincidence t;hat Michelle Davis picked these two out of a photomontage, 
or that Michelle picked Mario Steele out of a photomontage. It's not a coincidence 
that Aaron Howell picked Corey Trosclair out of the photomontage. . 

16 RP at 1885. Trosclair again moved for mistrial. The trial court denied both motions. 

Trosclair's argument that the trial court erred· by den yin~ these motions fails for two · 

reasons.· First, no actual statement from Michelle was ever presente~ Second, even assuming · 

without deciding that testimonial statements wex:e involved by implication, the introduction of any 

such evidence jn this context was harmless error. Whether or not the testimony left the impression 

that Michelle identified Trosclair from the photomontage, the jury knew that Howell had done so. 

The State could have properly substituted Howell's name for Michelle's. Reading the prosecutOr's . . 
entire argument, it appears that he simply misspoke during closing argmnent when he suggested I 

that Michelle had picked both Stee~e and Trosclair from the photomontage and that he quickly' 

'corrected his ~e, reminding the jury that it was actually Howell who had identified Trosclair. : .. 
' . 

Thus, any error was· harmless and by extension there was not a substantial likelihood :that the i 
• • ' I 

admissi~n of the photomontage testimony affected the jury; s verdict. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85. 

Accordingly, the 1rial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Trosclair's motions. 

IT: iNEFFECTIVE AsSISTANCE OP COUNSEL 

Trosclair further asserts that his trial counsel was prejudicially ineff~tive for failing to i 

move to exclude any reference to the polygraph que~on at the pte1rial stage. Even if we assume,j 

without deciding, that counsel's failm:e to move to.exclude the polygraph evidence was deficient,[ 

Trosclair cannot demon~e that the outcome of the trlal would have beep. different but for 

. counsel's deficient performance. 

15 
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To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Trosclair must show both .de:fi~ient 

performance and resulting prejudice; failure to show .either prong defeats this claim. State v. 

McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P·.3d 280 (2002). To establish prejudice, he must show that but . . 
for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different; 

. I 

Stricklandv. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). · 

·Here, as we discussed above, the State presented strong evidence of Trosclair's guilt (cell 

phone records, witness identification of Trosclair, Trosclair's own admissions of guilt) such that 

any prejudicial effect stemming from his trial counsel's failure to preemp~ the State's use of the 

polygraph evidence cannot reasonably be said to have affected the outcome of his trial. Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 694. Consequently,. we hold that Trosclair cannot show prejudice and, therefore, he 

fails to satisfy the second prong of the test. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. 

III. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

We turn next to Trosclair's argument that the prosecutor committed flagrant, prejudicial· 

misconduct in minimizing the State's burden of proof and misstating the role of the jury in two 

ways. First, the prosecutor misstated '¢-e role of the jury in explaining that it could convict the 

defendant if they ''knew'' he was. guilty. Second, the State again minimized the burden of proof 

and misstated the jury's role through its use of "Power Point" slides that-negated elements of the 

crime necessary for conviction and implored the jury to "declare the truth." Br. of Appellan;t 

(Trosclair) at 47. We conclude that the prosecutor's argument, when considered in context,. di(i 

not minimize the State's burden and also that the prosecutor's request that the jury "speak the 

truth,'' although improper, was not flagrant or ill intentioned. Therefore, Trosclair has wirived any 

error. 

16 
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A. STANDARD oF REvmw 

To establish prosecutorial miscondl,lct, Trosclair has the b~den of establishing that the 

challenged conduct was bo~ improper and prejudicial. State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 

81 P.3d 830 (2003). We review the ~rosecutor's conduct "by examining that conduct in the full 

trial context, including the evidence presented, 'the context of the total ar~ent, the issues in the · 

case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jiny!" State v. . . . ' . 

¥onday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d S51 (2011) (internal quotations marks omitted) (quoting 

State v. McKenzie, 151 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006)). 

Because Trosclair failed to object to ~conduct at tria4 he is deemed to have waived an 

error unless he establishes that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that it caus~ 

enduring prejudice that could no~ have .been cured ·with· an instruction to the jury and. th~ 

misconduct resulted. in prejudice that had a substa~.tial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict; . ' 

State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438~ 

442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). The focus of this inqUiry is more on whether the resulting prejudice 

' . 
could have been cured, rather than the flagrant or ill-intentioned nature of the remark. Emery; 174 

Wn.2d at 762. 

B. ADomONAL'FAcrs 

In closing argument, the prosecutor implored the jury to set aside any preexisting notio~ 

and f~lings it might have about what the reasonable doubt standard is or what it sllould be b~~ 
\ . 

the court had told them what the standard is. Shortly thereafter, the prosecutor said, 
. . 

Satisfied, if you have an abiding belief that the defendants committed the 
robbery, you have a duty to convict them. That's exactly what the instructions tell 
you. So once you are satisfied-- this is --put this to you slightly different. At some 
point you are going to be sitting baok in the jury room and somebody is going to 

17 
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say, I know he did it, but I would like to see more. Well, of course you would like 
· to see more. I know he did it but - and I want you to stop to think and say, I know 

he did it, I know he did it At that point you have an abiding belief in the truth of 
the charge. You know he did it 

. 16 RP at 1903-04. 

The prosecutor continued, discussing the application of the ''reasonable doubf' standard: 

It's a doubt that rises from the evidence or lack of evidence. In other words, when 
you are looking at the truth of the charge, you say it wasn't him. You say, they 
didn't try to rob Lenard Masten. Th~ gunshot didn't kill him. That's a doubt that 
arises from the evidence, or the lack of evidence. 

DQ you ba,ve enough? It's not do you wish you had more. Do you· have 
enough? There will always be something else that you would like to see.- If you 
have an abiding belief it just means abiding, long .lasting. Are you satisfied - when 
you reach your verdict today, are you satisfied tomorrow, are you satisfied two 
years from·now? When you wake up three years from now, I did the right thing. 
It's not I'm 1,000 percent certain. It's, I know he did it. Axe you going to be 
satisfied two years from now? I know he did it 

16 RP at 1904-05. 

C. ANALYSIS 

Trosclair takes issue with the prosecutor's several references to whether·the jury ''kn~ 

he was guilty in the passages above, arguing that this language minimizes. the burden ofproofm 

the jury's mind. But he did not object 'to this argument 'at trial. When read in isolation, these 

statements could appear tO minimize the State's'burden ofpt:oof. But th.e~e words could also~ 

~ead or interpreted as an unnecessary au~entation of the State's burden. Th~ phrase i'l know h~ 

did it'' could also be construed a8 a requirement that a juror be convinced of a defendant's ~t 

with absolute certainty, which is more than the State is required to prove. 

Regardless, these comments are not. fl~ant and ill intentione~ 'When read in the context qf 

the argument. Immediately before the prosec¢or· made this argument, he quoted the entire 

reasonable doubt instruction verbatim. It was only after doing so that he attempted to explain, ih 
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. . 
lay terms, how an abiding belief is developed. Importantly, the prosecutor here endeavored tq 

connect his argument with the correct legal standard and did not trivialize the State's burden by, 
. . . 

for example, comparing the certainty required to conVict with·the certainty people used when the)! 

make everyday decisions. State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 732,265 P.3d 191 (2011). 

Furthermore, even if Trosclair could demonstrate that this argument was flagrant and i1f 

intentioned, he· fails to show that an instruction reminding the jury to consider the evidence only 

in terms of the reasonable doubt standard could not have cured any prejudice. As mentioned, our 
I 

focus is directed most strongly towards this consideration. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762. In Emery, 

the court reasoned that had Emery objected to improper closing arguments at trial, the trial court 
• I 

would have properly explained the jury's role and reiterated the correct burden of proof, 

eliminating any confusion or prejudice. 174 Wn.2d at 764. The same is true here. 

Trosclair also claims that the State misstated the role of the jury with its use of a "Power 

Point" slide show because the State included slides which implied that the jury did not need to find 

that ~eState proved each ele~ent of the crime to render a guilty verdict T:r:osclair did not object 

to the slides he now complains of. The State used the following slide in closing argument: 

An Abiding Belief 
If you know Cprey Trosclair committed the crime of Robbery or Attempted 
Robbery, you have an abiding belief and he is gUilty of Murder in the First Degree 

' 
Ex. 164, at 21. Trosclair argues that this slide and the accompanying statements imply that the 

jury need only determine whether Trosclair committed robbery to be guiltY of first degree felony 
. . 

murder, which is improper because commission of the underlying felony is but one element ofth.e 

charge. While this is true, it appears from the context of the entire argument that the State framed 

the slide this way because if the. State was able to prove that Trosclair participated in the r~bbery 
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that led to Masten's murder, he was guilty of murder because no other element of the crime was· 

in doubt. 

In addition to the commission of the robbery, the remaining elements included that (1) the 

defendant, or another participant, or a person to whom the defendant was acting as an accomplice, 
. . 

caused the death of Masten in the course of or in furtherance of such crin;l.e or in immediate flight 

from SU9h crime, (2) Masten was not a p8.rticipant in the crhne, and (3) any of these acts occurred . 

in the State ofW ashington. The State did not minimize its burden in the minds of the j't;lt'Y ~embers 

because these other elements were never in dispute .. What was in dispute was w:Pether Trosclair 

participated in the robbery, the predicate crime to felo~y murder. Furthermore, two slides later, 

the State reminded the jury that the defendant is entitled to a fair trial and that the State was required 

to· prove every element of the charge. The slides and the accompanying statements were JfOt, 

improper, but even if they were, it was not flagrant or ill intentioned such that any prejudice could 

not be cured by an appropriate instruction. 

The State also used a slide in which it urged the jury to return verdicts that ''speak the 

truth." '16 RP ·at 1905. This court and our .Supreme Court have consistently held that these 
. . 

arguments are improper. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760; St~te v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 424,. 

220 P.3d 1273 (2009), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010). The Anderson co~ explained, 

A jury's job is not t~ "solve" a case .. It is ~ot, as the State claims, to "declare what 
happened on the day in· question." . . . Rather, the jury's duty is to determine 
whether the State has proved its allegations against a defendant beyond a reasonable 
doubt 

153 'Wn. App.· at 429. The court in Emery, agreeing that "declare th~ truth" statements were 

improper, carefully analy~d whether these arguments are flagran~ or ill intentioned. 174 Wn.2d 

at 7 63'. The court ·concluded that such arguments are not the type that our courts have tradi~onally 
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found inflammatory-like argwnents that appeal to racial biases or local prejudices-so thes~ 
• I 

arguments lacked any possibility of inflammatory effect. Emery, 174 W11.2d at 763. Accordingly~ 

here, the State's demand that the jury "declare the truth," though improper, was not fla~ant or ill1 

intentioned misconduct incurable by an instruction and, therefore, we hold that Trosclair's 

prosecutorial misconduct claims fail. 

IV. CUMULATIVE ERROR 

Finally, Tro~clair contends that even if the alleged errors did not compel revers4 

individually, their cumulative effect should because that effect deprived Trosclair of his State an4 

constitutional rights to a fair trial. Because Trosclaii cannot show that be was substantiall)1 

·prejudiced to the extent that he was denied a .fair trial considering the totality of the circmnstances1 
we hold that the cumulative error doctrine does not warrant reversal in this instance. 

Th~ cumulative error doctrine applies where a .combination of trial errors denies thfj 

accused a fair trial even where any one of the errors, ~en individuaily, may not justify revers~~ 

State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, _10 P.3d 390 (2000). The defendant bears the burden of 

proving an accumulation of error of sufficient magnitude that retrial is necessary. State v1 

Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 98,210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (citing In re Pers. Restraint ofLord, 123 

Wn.2d 296,332,868 P,2d 835, 870 P.2d 964, cert. denied, 5l3 U:.S. 849 (1994)). Butth~ doctrine 

does not apply where the errors are few and have little or no effect on th~ outcome of the trialt 

State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006), cert. denied, 551 U.S. ~ 137 (2007). 

Analysis of this issue depends on the nature of the errors because a constitutional error requires 

reversal unless the· reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable 

jury would have reached the same result absent the error. State v. Whelchel, 115 Wn.2d 708, 728, . 
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. 801 P.2d 948 (1990). Nonconstitutional error requires reversal only if, within reasouablo 

probabilities, it materially affected the outcome ofthe trial. State v. Halstten, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 

857 P.2d 270 (1993). 

Here, Trosclair's rights under the confrontation clause were violated, but that error was 

·harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not affect the ou,tcome of the trial. TJ:ie State's "speak 

the truth" statement was improper, but was neither flagrant nor ill intentioned. There was arguably 

an error associated With the polygraph question. But the untainted evidence against T:rosclair was 
. . . I 

strong and the errors did not deny Trosclair a fair trial. The polygraph testimony did n:ot ma~y 

affect the outcome of trial nor would any reasonable jury .have reached a different result in tho · 

·absence of the possible error. In li~t of all the evidence, we rejeCt Trosclair's argument that the 

cumulative effect of these errors supports reversal of his conviction. Accordingly, we affirm · 

Trosclair• s conviction. 

ANALYSIS- FISHER 

Fisher appeals her conviction, arguing that t4e State presented insufficient ev:idence to 

prove that she acted as an accomplice and ~t the trial court erred when it refused to provide the 

jury her proposed affirmative defens'e jury .instruction. We hold that there was sufficient evidence 

to supportFisher•s convicti~n because she aided in~ commission ofthe offense and b~ she I 

failed. to prove by a preponde.nmce of the evidence that she was entitled to the instruction; the trial I 
court did not err in declining to give 'the requested instruction. 

I: SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 
I 

Fisher argues that the evidence was insufficient ·to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

she acted as an ~omplice to felony D;J.urder because the fact that she coordinated the final phone 
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. c~ll to Masten, coupled with her reluctance to discuss the case with law enforcement, does not 
. . . . ' 

amoUn.t to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Because Fisher coordinated the final phone call to 

0 set up the sham drug deal with knowledge that she was assisting' in a planned robbery, her claim 

fails. We hold that sufficient evidence supports Fi~her's conviction. 

To determine wheth~.evidence is sufficient to ~a conviction, we review the evi 

• 

0 

0 I 
in the light most favorable to the S~. State v. We~. 149 Wn.2d 342,347, 68 P.3d 282 (2003) . 

. Th~ relevant questi;, is '"whether any rationallilct finder could have found the essential el__, 
· of the crime beyond a reaso~le doubt"' State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-35, 225 P.3d 23~ 

(2010). (qUoting W~. 149 Wn.2d at 347) .. In ~lalmiDg insufficient evidence,~. deferuhm~. 
necessarily admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be dra 

. . 

from it Drum, 168 Wn.2d at 35 (citing State v. Salinas, ·119 Wn.2d 192, ~01, 829 P.2d 106&· 
0 • 

(1992)). We interpret the evidence cumost strongly against the defendant.,~ State v. Hernandez, · · 

172 Wn. App. 537, 543, 290 P.3d 1052 (2012) (quoting State v. Joy, 121 Wn.2d 333, 339, 851 

P.2d 654 (1993)), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1022 (2013). we: consider both circ~al and 

direct evidence as equally reliable and ·defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, 

witness credibility, and the persuasiveness ofthe evidence. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874-75 . 
.. 

To convict Fi$her of:first degree murder, the State had to prove theofollowing elements: 

(1) That on or about the 16th day of January, 2011 the defendant or a person 
to whom the defendant was acting as an accomplice, committed or attempted to 
commit the crime of Robbery in the First Degree or Robbery in the Second Degree; 

(2) That the defendant, or another participant, or a person to whom the 
defendant was acting as an accomplice, caused the death of Lenard Masten in the 
course of or in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such crime; 

(3) That Lenard Masten was not a participant iri. the crime; and 
(4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington. 
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Clerk's Papers (Fisher) at 172; RC~ 9A.32.030(I)(c). A person is guilty of a crime as an 

accomplice when 

(a) [w]ith'knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission ofthe 
crime, he ·or she: · · · 

(i) Solicits, commandS~ encourages, or req_uests such other person to 
commit it; or · 

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it 

RCW 9A.08.020(3). "Aid" means ~1 assistance given by words, acts, encouragement, support, o~ 

pieSenCe. And a~ who is lin ~mplice In the commission of a crime is guilty of !bat cru,J 
whether pl'esent at the scene or not. . · · I 

Here, Adams testified that Tro~clair t~ld him that someon~ called Masten to set up a J 
deal while Trosclair and Steele were waiting outside of Masten's apartment Fisher admitted t~ 
initiating the three-way phone call with Masten moments before his death. Fisher admitted ~ 

. . 
Conlon first that she knew that Steele and Trosclair had discussed robbing Masten, then that sh~ 

thought they would likely rob him, and· finally that Steele told her they were going to .rob Masten.. 

Notwithstanding the fact that Fisher vaeillated, backpedaled, and d~cribed the events 

inconsistently, the State presented enough information for a rational fact finder to :find the essential 

elements of felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt. We J:i.old that the State p~ented sufficient 

evidence to suppot:t Fisher's conviction as an accomplice to first degree murder. 
. . 

II. APPIRMATIVE D~SB INSTRUCTION 

Fisher also argues that the. trial court's ~fusal to offer one of her proposed jury instructions 

violated her constitutional right to present a defense and to inform the jury of the applicable law. 

We hold that the trial court did not err in refusing to give the instruction an~ accordingly, we 

affirm Fisher's conviction. 
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The standard of review for a refusal to give ·a requested jury instruction depends on whether 

the refusal was based on a matter of law or fact. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 77.1, 966 P.2d 

883 (1998). Jfthe refusal was based on a matter of law, our review is de novo; ffitwas based on 

a matter of fact, we review the refusal for an abtise of discretion. Walker, 136. Wn.2a at 771-72. 

Jw:y instructions are adequate if they permit :the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not 
' . 

mislead th~ jury1 ~d properly inform the jury o~the appli~ble law. State ,v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 

378,382,103 P.3d 1219 (2005). Arid adefendant.is entitled to an instruction on his theoiy oftb.c 

case if the evidence supportS. that thC'Ory. State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1052 · 

(1997). But a defendant raising an affirmative defense must offer sufficient admissible evidcncc 

to justify giving the jury an instruction on the defense. State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 237, 850 

.. P .2d 495 (1993). In evaluating whether the evidence is sufficient to support such an ·instruction, 

the trial court must interpret the evidence most strong!~ in favor' of the defendant. State v. Mulltm, 

128 Wn. App. 633, 639, 116 P.3d 441 (2005) (ci~g State v. May, 100 Wn. App. 478, 482, 997 

P.2d 956, review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1004(2000)). 

Here, the trial court .determined that Fisher was not entitled to the statutory affinnative 

defens~ i.ri.struction presumably because she did n~t prc:sent sufficient evidence to e~tabllsh each 

. ofthe req~ elementS.5 Therefore, the court's determination was based on a matter oflaw and, I 

1hus, our reviow is de novo . . Wa{ker, 136 Wn.2d atm. I 
Fisher requeSted that the court provide the jury with 11 W ashtngton Practice: Pattern JfiT)' 1 

Instructions: Crimina! 19.01, at 291 (3d ed. 2008), which provides, 

. It is a defense to a charge ofmm:der in the [flrSt] [second] degree based upon 
[eommitting][or][attemptingto commit](fill in felony) that the defendant: 

s The trial cOurt did not indicate the ground on which it was refusing to provide the instruction. 
' -· . 
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(1) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit; request, command, 
importune, cause, or aid the commi11sion thereof; and 

(2) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, article, or 
substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical injury; and 

(3) . Had no reasonable grounds to ~lieve that any other participant ~ armed 
with such a weapon, ,inst:r,unent, article, or sUbstance; and 

( 4) Had no reasonable grounds to believe' that any other participant intended to 
engage in conduct likely to result ill death or serious physical injury. 
The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance 

of the evidence. Preponderance ofthe evidence means that you must be pQI'~d, 
considering all :the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than riot true. 
If you find that the defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to 
return a verdict of not guilty [as to this charge]. · 

. At trial, the State conceded that there was no dispute that Fisher satisfied elements one and 

two. The State argues, however, that because the burden was on Fisher, she was required to present 

some evidence to establish the third and fourth elements, wbich.she did not do. Fisher contends 

that a preponderance of the evidence means that all of the evidence is considered and, therefore, a. 

lack of evidence in the State's case to show she had a reasonable belief that either Steele or 

Trosclair was armed with a weapon was equally sufficient. We agree with the State that Fisher 

had the burden'to present evidence that she was entitled to the affirmative defense i.nstruction'that 

she requested, and that .she fail~ to do so. Fisher had to present some evidene;e that she "had no! 

reasonable grounds to believe" that any other participant. was armed with .such a weapon,' 

instrument, article, or substance, and that she had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 

participant intended to engage 1n conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. . . 

Fisher did not testify nor did she call witnesses. Our review of the recor.d reveals no evidence that 

Fisher had "no reasonable grounds to believe" that another participant was ~ed and that no other. 

participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 
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A relatively low evidentiary burden is a burden nonetheless and no evidence at trial 

supported a. detennination that Fisher had n? reasonable grounds to believe that other participants 

were armed and planned to engage in conduct resuJ,ting in injury. We hold that the trial court did . 

not err in refusing to give the requested instructi~n. 

Accordingly, we affirm Trosclair'~ and Fisher's convictions. 

We concur:· 
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